FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 12/27/2024 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
12/27/2024 11:41 AM

No. 84948-4-I

Case #: 1037406

## COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JORGE H. NAVAS,

Respondent,

V.

#### MYRNA LINETT DUARTE SAS,

Petitioner.

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

Lisa K. Clark WSBA #25512 Law Office of Lisa K. Clark 4800 Aurora Avenue N Seattle, WA 98103-6518 (206) 729-9179

Aaron P. Orheim WSBA #47670 2775 Harbor Avenue SW Third Floor, Suite C Seattle, WA 98126 (206) 574-6661

Attorneys for Petitioner Myrna Linett Duarte Sas

#

A.	IDENTITY OF PETITIONER		
B.	COU	RT OF APPEALS DECISION 1	
C.	ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 1		
D.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE		
	(1)	Duarte Singlehandedly Saved the Former Couple's Family Home from Foreclosure, Which They Owned as Cotenants After Their Out-of-State Dissolution Failed to Divide the Property	
	(2)	Navas Filed a Partition Action, and the Trial Court Awarded the Home to Duarte	
	(3)	<u>Division I Reversed,</u> <u>Creating Conflicts in Law</u>	
E.	_	UMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD	

	(1)	<u>Division I's Opinion Undermines</u>			
		a Trial Court's Ability to Effectuate			
		Equitable Partition, in Conflict with			
		the Partition Statute and			
		Longstanding Precedent	. 14		
	(2)	Division I's Opinion Undermines			
		Appellate Review Creating			
		Additional Conflicts	. 21		
	(3)	Partition of Single-Family Homes			
		Is an Issue of Public Importance	. 26		
F.	CON	CLUSION	. 29		
Appendix					

# TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

<u>Page</u>
Table of Cases
Washington Cases
Adams v. Rowe,
39 Wn.2d 446, 236 P.2d 355 (1951)17, 18, 27
Arzola v. Name Intelligence, Inc.,
188 Wn. App. 588, 355 P.3d 286 (2015)
Barth v. Hafey,
189 Wn. App. 1018, 2015 WL 4610987 (2015)24
Courchaine v. Commonwealth Land Title Ins.,
174 Wn. App. 27, 296 P.3d 913 (2012)22
Cummings v. Anderson,
94 Wn.2d 135, 614 P.2d 1283 (1980)24
Eubanks v. Klickitat County,
181 Wn. App. 615, 326 P.3d 796 (2014)22
Glepco, LLC v. Reinstra,
175 Wn. App. 545, 307 P.3d 744 (2013)25
Hartley v. Liberty Park Associates,
54 Wn. App. 434, 774 P.2d 40 (1989)
In re Marriage of Wintermute,
70 Wn. App. 741, 855 P.2d 1186 (1993)19, 27
In re Marriage of Morris,
176 Wn. App. 893, 309 P.3d 767 (2013)22
Kelsey v. Kelsey,
179 Wn. App. 360, 317 P.3d 1096
Leinweber v. Leinweber,
63 Wn.2d 54, 385 P.2d 556 (1963)passim
Nat'l Elec. Contractors Ass'n, Cascade Chapter v. Riveland,
138 Wn.2d 9, 978 P.2d 481 (1999)21
Neighbors v. King County,
15 Wn. App. 2d 71, 479 P.3d 724 (2020)

Skinner v. Holgate,
141 Wn. App. 840, 173 P.3d 300 (2007)22
State, Dep't of Ecology v. Acquavella,
112 Wn. App. 729, 51 P.3d 800 (2002)25
Vasquez v. Hawthorne,
145 Wn.2d 103, 33 P.3d 735 (2001)
Other Cases
Kapcsos v. Benshoff,
194 A.3d 139 (Pa. Super. Ct. 2018)
Statestan
<u>Statutes</u>
RCW 19.36.0106
RCW 26.09.050
RCW 26.09.08027
RCW 62A.2-2016
RCW 64.04.0106
RCW 7.52.010
RCW 7.52.080
RCW 7.52.440
Rules
RAP 1.34(b)(1), (2)
RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2)
RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (4)
RAP 13.4(b)(4)
Other Authorities
Merriam-Webster.com Legal Dictionary, <a href="https://www.merriam-">https://www.merriam-</a>
webster.com/legal/owelty 17

#### A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Myrna Duarte seeks review of the opinion in Part B.

#### B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Division I filed its opinion on September 16, 2024, and denied Duarte's motion for reconsideration on November 27, 2024. *See* appendix.

#### C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. The partition statute, Chapter 7.52 RCW, and published precedent establish that a single-family home can be awarded to one cotenant with the other cotenant receiving a payment based on their equitable share in the property's value. The trial court tried to effectuate this unequal partition, known as owelty partition, because Myrna Duarte single-handedly saved a single-family home from foreclosure by undergoing bankruptcy while her former spouse and cotenant abandoned the property. Did Division I error in reversing that decision, made by a trial court sitting in equity, while suggesting that that a single-family home can only be partitioned by sale?

#### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

(1) <u>Duarte Singlehandedly Saved the Former Couple's</u>
<u>Family Home from Foreclosure, Which They</u>
<u>Owned as Cotenants After Their Out-of-State</u>
<u>Dissolution Failed to Divide the Property</u>

Myrna Duarte and Jorge Navas were married in 1999 and had a child together who is now an adult. A few years later they bought a single-family home together in Mill Creek using community funds.

Duarte and Navas divorced in 2012 in El Salvador, but the divorce decree did not dispose of their Mill Creek home, meaning they then owned the home as cotenants. Ex. 106. They reconciled for a short time, living together again in the Mill Creek home in 2013 and having a second child in June 2014. RP 137-38.

Around this time, both Duarte and Navas became unemployed and the mortgage on the house fell into arrears. CP 139-40. They could not pay the mortgage, HOA dues, and other joint debts, including debts for prenatal medical care for their young daughter. RP 143, 153-54. The couple received foreclosure notices as their debt mounted. *E.g.*, exs. 107-09. For a short time, they began a trial repayment program with their bank, but they could not make the required payments. RP 145-

In 2016, the couple received notice that their home would be sold at foreclosure auction. RP 148-49; ex. 142. Duarte was "panic[ked]," and she immediately began discussing options for bankruptcy with Navas to save the home. RP 148-49, 220-21. Navas testified that he wanted to sell the house, through a short sale or some other mechanism. RP 283-84.

Duarte and Navas met with a bankruptcy lawyer several times, but only Duarte filed for bankruptcy to try to save the home. CP 4; RP 149-50. Under the bankruptcy plan, Duarte agreed to pay \$4,000 per month for 60 months to save the home from foreclosure. Originally, Navas agreed to help make those payments, but he made just two, \$2,000 payments. RP 102.

Around that time the parties separated for good and Navas stopped paying toward the bankruptcy plan. RP 210. Duarte testified that he "abandon[ed]" their agreement and she was left on her own. RP 248-49. Navas moved out in October 2016, and never spent another night in the house. RP 209-10.

Aside from the two *di minimus* \$2,000 payments, very early on before he abandoned his agreement to help Duarte, Navas made no further payments on the property. He paid nothing toward the \$4,000 monthly bankruptcy payments for five years, necessary to rescue the property from foreclosure. He paid nothing in taxes, HOA fees, insurance, maintenance, or any other costs associated with the property. RP 248-49. Other than unclogging a drain and drilling a hole in some drywall on one occasion, he never did any work on the property. RP 209-10. Duarte testified:

He left me with a home that was going to be foreclosed and auctioned out, and when he left, I had filed for bankruptcy, and that stopped that proceeding, but at the same time, he knew that I was not going to be able to afford those payments of \$4,000 a month without his help. So he decided at the moment that he moved out that he was not going to help. He decided to leave that debt to deal with on my own. So if I would have not been able to afford this, the house would have been sold, foreclosed, auctioned out....Gone. Absolutely. No second chances, no third chances, absolutely no way out [] of losing the house.

RP 270-71.

Over the next five years, Duarte managed to make enough payments save the home. RP 204. She worked, having regained the job she lost employment around the time she became pregnant. RP 138; ex. 6. She also got help from family, help from her boss, and scaled back her expenses to accomplish this feat. RP 272. Duarte paid all expenses and maintenance associated with the home. RP 268-69. Duarte testified that the stress of making bankruptcy payments and ends meet was "absolutely exhausting." RP 202.

Duarte also lived with roommates, which Navas has stressed was part of an agreement they had that he would move out and she would rent rooms to pay the bankruptcy. Duarte denied that such an agreement existed. RP 221. No other evidence supported Navas's allegation of an agreement, certainly nothing that would satisfy the statute of frauds as the partition referee appointed at trial would later point out.<sup>1</sup> RP 181.

<sup>1</sup> Agreements to answer for the debts of another,

The couple had rented out rooms before Navas moved out, historically earning about \$700 in rental income. RP 61-62; ex. 6. But Duarte testified that after Navas moved out she did not have "consistent roommates," it was "[v]ery difficult" to find roommates, the roommates she did find did not always pay her, and the amount she could obtain in any month from renting a portion of the property was "very inconsistent." RP 266-67. She took on this exhausting role of property manager and landlord along with all her duties related to the bankruptcy while Navas "did not in any way help" once the bankruptcy was filed. RP 262. Navas offered no testimony that he helped Duarte find tenants, or otherwise helped with the alleged deal he claimed they had regarding rental income assisting with the bankruptcy.

On top of the exhausting work Duarte undertook to save

\_

agreements that cannot be performed within one year, and most conveyances related to real estate, including lease agreements must be in writing to satisfy the statute of frauds. RCW 19.36.010; RCW 62A.2-201; RCW 64.04.010.

the home, she was diagnosed with breast cancer three and a half years into bankruptcy, right as the COVID-19 pandemic hit. RP 205. She endured surgery, four months of chemotherapy, and radiation therapy. RP 205-07. Navas did not offer to assist her with any payments as she went through cancer treatment, which he knew about. RP 207. She even asked him to help pay for childcare expenses as she went through cancer treatment during COVID, but "[h]e would not help." RP 258.

Bankruptcy ended in June 2021, after Duarte made 56 payments. RP 204, 228. Having gone through bankruptcy alone, Duarte alone suffered the negative credit that continues. RP 253 (noting at trial her credit score was not high enough to refinance). Duarte continued to make mortgage payments on her own when the bankruptcy ended. RP 207-08.

## (2) <u>Navas Filed a Partition Action, and the Trial Court</u> Awarded the Home to Duarte

Duarte exited bankruptcy in 2021, just as real estate in Western Washington was skyrocketing. The home that Duarte

saved from foreclosure now appraised for over \$1 million. Ex. 11. Navas wanted a cut of the home's value, filing an action for partition under chapter 7.52 RCW in Snohomish County Superior Court. CP 202-07. At the time he left in 2016, their mortgage had been interest only, RP 274-75, so there was little to no equity in the home when he abandoned it.<sup>2</sup> Ex. 6. Even though Duarte took on bankruptcy to save the home by herself and it only appreciated in value through her efforts alone, Navas claimed a one-half share in the full value of the home. *Id*.

Duarte answered, denying many false statements that Navas made in his partition complaint.<sup>3</sup> CP 194-97. For relief she pleaded, "Using its equitable powers, the court should award

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Navas admitted at trial that by filing for bankruptcy, Duarte reduced around \$34,000 of the mortgage debt on the home, increasing the little equity that existed. RP 275. The bankruptcy also settled late fees, medical bills, outstanding car loans they held as codebtors and came with its own expenses. RP 275-76; ex. 6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Despite coming to the trial court in equity, Navas's petition continued many overblown or misstated facts, to try to inflate his supposed stake in the home. *See* Resp't br. at 2-17.

100[ percent] of this asset to the defendant." CP 196.

The court appointed a partition referee to examine the case and make recommendations. CP 164-65. The referee concluded that partition should result in Duarte receiving the house because Navas abandoned the property when it was essentially worthless, and Duarte's investments alone saved it from foreclosure and allowed it to appreciate in value. CP 133-39. He looked to case law discussing legal doctrines like abandonment and ouster, noting the uniqueness of this station because there "are very few cases" dealing with these subjects in a partition action. RP 164. The referee concluded that Duarte should receive the property under the guidelines established by the few cases that do exist. CP 133-39.

The referee also recognized that the trial court could make some other award regardless of legal doctrines like ouster or abandonment, because a court hearing a partition action sits "in equity, and the Court can make some other allocation." RP 191. He concluded that if the court chose not to follow legal "guiding"

Navas's share should be reduced to "frankly less" than some *legal* share given his "total lack of involvement and support." RP 191; CP 139. Meaning, the referee recommended that even after the trial court reduced Navas's share in equity by all the mortgage, taxes, insurance, HOA, maintenance, and other costs/fees he failed to pay for over seven years, the court should reduce his share *even further* because Duarte's efforts alone allowed the house to appreciate and have any value. *Id*.

The trial court, the Honorable Marybeth Dingledy, held a two-day trial, at which the partition referee, Navas, and Duarte all testified. *See generally*, RP. The court found that Duarte should receive the home, writing:

[Duarte] single-handedly saved the house, even when she was undergoing cancer care. [Navas] did not participate other than paying a couple of thousand dollars towards the arrears. Ms. Duarte Sas was the only person who paid the mortgage and all expenses related to this property. Mr. Navas never submitted any creditor's claim. He did not live in the residence. Although he said he did work on the house, there was no evidence of that with

regards to photos or even a description of what was done other than it was a patio... I will award the house to mother. She has single-handedly saved this house and worked very hard to keep her asset and her children safe.

RP 305-06. The court was satisfied based on the legal authorities presented by the referee that this was a case in which one cotenant ousted the other. RP 306.

Because he had been ousted, the trial court awarded Navas reasonable rental value during the ouster period, \$25,025 in total. That represented a 50 percent share of \$770 in reasonable rental income per month for 71 months, with some adjustments to account for the difficult rental market during COVID. RP 308-09; CP 5.

# (3) <u>Division I Reversed, Creating Conflicts in Law</u>

Navas appealed, arguing that ouster did not apply. Duarte argued that even if the court erred in relying on an ouster theory — a theory that the partition referee raised, *not* Duarte, as a "guiding principle"— the appellate court should affirm because any error was harmless. A court sitting in a partition action has

broad, equitable authority and Duarte singlehandedly saved the home from foreclosure. *Leinweber v. Leinweber*, 63 Wn.2d 54, 58, 385 P.2d 556 (1963) (partition should allow a person "to recover the benefits created by the sweat of his or her brow and prevent a windfall to the other cotenants") (cleaned up).

Division I determined that ouster did not apply and reversed, refusing to apply a harmless error analysis for which Duarte argued. Despite the vast equitable power a trial court wields to fairly partition property, Division I included a lengthy discussion about partition by sale that conflicts with existing case law. This discussion dominated oral argument, where the Court opined that a partition sale was the proper remedy, a remedy that could leave *both* parties "much worse off." *See* Oral Argument <a href="https://www.tvw.org/watch/?clientID=9375922947&eventID=2">https://www.tvw.org/watch/?clientID=9375922947&eventID=2</a>

done.").4

This discussion made it into the Court's opinion, where Division I specified that the single-family home likely had to be partitioned by sale as the only "possible" option:

On remand, the trial court must take the necessary steps to partition the property and the ownership interests thereto. As a single-family residence in a single-family zone, statutory partition appears possible only by sale. See Friend, 92 Wn. App. at 804-05 (where partition in kind conflicts with local zoning ordinances, division of property is prejudicial and partition by sale is the appropriate remedy). Any deviation from this result should be closely analyzed pursuant to the discussion set forth in the preceding section of this opinion.

Slip op. at 15-16.

Despite the Division I's reasoning, neither party asked for partition by sale as their primary relief. Both sought owelty partition under RCW 7.52.440, which allows one cotenant to keep possession of a property and compensate the other spouse

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> This transcription was performed by undersigned counsel and approximates the audio captured at argument to the best of undersigned counsel's abilities.

for their equitable share with a monetary payment. CP 196, 205. Navas asked that Duarte keep the home while he receive a 50 percent share through a refinance, while Duarte argued that she should receive 100 percent as a matter of equity, whether or not ouster applied, because the house was essentially underwater when Navas abandoned it. CP 196. As discussed below, these unequal (owelty) partitions are authorized by statute and occur often in Washington, especially in the case of partitioning single-family homes.

Duarte pointed out these overlooked facts and authorities through a timely statement of additional authorities and motion for reconsideration, but Division I denied reconsideration.

Appendix. This timely petition follows.

- E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED
  - (1) <u>Division I's Opinion Undermines a Trial Court's</u>

    <u>Ability to Effectuate Equitable Partition, in Conflict</u>

    <u>with the Partition Statute and Longstanding Precedent</u>

Review is warranted because Division I's opinion creates

conflicts in law and adds confusion to a statute where none existed before. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2). Partition of a single-family home is not "possible *only*" by sale. Slip op. at 15-16 (emphasis added). Division I's opinion contradicts the partition statute's plain language and published precedent from this and other Washington courts.

This Court has held for decades that partition actions are equitable matters where the trial court is afforded "great flexibility." *Leinweber*, 63 Wn.2d at 56. "In all cases of partition a court of equity does not act merely in a ministerial character and in obedience to the call of the parties who have a right to the partition, but it founds itself upon its general jurisdiction as a court of equity." *Id.* (cleaned up). A trial court hearing a partition action "administers its relief *ex aequo et bono* according to its own notions of general justice and equity between the parties." *Id.* 

As this Court has stated, "Equitable claims are not dependent on the 'legality' of the relationship between the

parties" but rather, "equitable claims must be analyzed under the specific facts presented in each case." *Vasquez v. Hawthorne*, 145 Wn.2d 103, 107-08, 33 P.3d 735 (2001) (court sitting in equity could grant relief to same-sex partner even though case law and statutes prevented finding a quasi-martial relationship or imposing community property concepts upon same-sex partners); *see also, e.g., Arzola v. Name Intelligence, Inc.*, 188 Wn. App. 588, 596, 355 P.3d 286 (2015) ("In matters of equity, trial courts have broad discretionary powers to fashion equitable remedies.").

A court sitting in equity with *ex aequo et bono* authority is not even bound by the partition statute itself. *Kelsey v. Kelsey*, 179 Wn. App. 360, 368, 317 P.3d 1096, *review denied*, 179 Wn. App. 360, *cert. denied*, 574 U.S. 975 (2014). While the partition statute, "provides guidance to a court in a partition action, it does not mark the outer limits of a court's exercise of its equitable powers." *Id.* Thus, a court in the exercise of its equitable powers may fashion remedies to address facts of each case, even if the

partition statute does not strictly provide for such a remedy. *Id.* at 370 (court could discount certain shares of property owned by tenants in common and partition personal property along with the real property to make transfer equitable).

Emphasizing the broad, flexible nature of an equitable position action, the Legislature enacted RCW 7.52.440, which provides for unequal partition if traditional partition would be inequitable to "some" of the parties. In Adams v. Rowe, 39 Wn.2d 446, 447, 236 P.2d 355 (1951), this Court explained that this statute affirms the common-law doctrine "owelty of partition." Owelty is "a lien created or a pecuniary sum paid by order of the court to effect an equitable partition of property (as in divorce) when such a partition in kind would be impossible, impracticable, or prejudicial to one of the parties." "Owelty." Merriam-Webster.com Legal Dictionary, https://www.merriamwebster.com/legal/owelty. In conflict with Division I's opinion, Washington courts have been applying owelty partition to singlefamily homes for years.

In *Adams*, a divorced spouse sued for partition of the homestead held as tenants-in-common. In discussing how a judgment because attached to the property, this Court noted that the land was not partitioned in kind or by sale because the lot "could not be divided equally." 39 Wn.2d at 447. So instead, the home was partitioned unequally in owelty, with 100 percent of the lot to one party with a compensating payment to the other. *Id*.

Division I discussed owelty partition of a former couple's single-family home in *Hartley v. Liberty Park Associates*, 54 Wn. App. 434, 438, 774 P.2d 40 (1989). In discussing how a judgment came to be on a home, the court noted:

In the dissolution proceedings the superior court had Michael and Patricia's property before it for partitioning. *See* RCW 26.09.050. The court determined that the family home could not be appropriately divided, so it awarded the Issaquah property to Patricia, and gave Michael a money award of \$40,000 to equalize the distribution. The court's authority for the compensation is the "time-honored doctrine of owelty".

*Id.* citing (*Adams*). Thus, a court has authority in owelty to do what the trial court did here: award property to one cotenant

based on her equitable interest.

Division II also noted *in re Marriage of Wintermute*, 70 Wn. App. 741, 745-46, 855 P.2d 1186 (1993), that the "ancient doctrine of owelty...may be decreed...as an equitable alternative to partition" under RCW 7.52.440. "When, as in this case [of a single-family home], a particular piece of real property cannot be fairly apportioned, an equalizing monetary award can be made in lieu of partition."

Division I's ruling that partition "appears possible only by sale" conflicts with these authorities recognizing the "time honored" and ancient doctrine of owelty partition authorized by the partition statute itself. The property need not only be partitioned in kind or via a courthouse auction. Rather, the trial court sitting in equity could partition the property "according to the respective rights of the persons interested," RCW 7.52.010, including unequally, up to 100 percent in owelty, with Navas's interest (however equitably small) being monetarily compensated, as the trial court did here. RCW 7.52.440.

The Legislature did not intend to make partition by sale the default. Far from it – it made owelty partition more freely available than partition by sale. Property is partitioned "according to the respective rights of the parties as determined by the court" and sale "may" (permissive) occur if all owners would be "great[ly] prejudice[d]." RCW 7.52.080, .090. Unequal (or owelty) partition, on the other hand, may occur if "some" owners are prejudiced by traditional partition. RCW 7.52.440.<sup>5</sup> Duarte would surely be prejudiced by traditional partition, given she has lived in the family home for nearly two decades and fought bankruptcy to save it, as other Washington

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Kapcsos v. Benshoff, 194 A.3d 139 (Pa. Super. Ct. 2018), is a recent case from another state that succinctly describes at 142-44 the proper approach to partition. Comparing partition to a pie, the court describes that a partition court can either: (1) cut and divide the pie in parts; (2) "give the whole pie to one party and order that person to pay the other parties for their respective shares... based upon the equities of what everyone invested in the land...known as 'owelty'"; or (3) order the pie to be sold and the profits split "if neither of the first two scenarios are possible." Washington's partition statute likewise recognizes that partition by sale is a permissive, last option, not the default or first option as Division I wrongfully concluded.

courts have long recognized.

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