# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/27/2025 4:40 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 103740-6

### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JORGE H. NAVAS,

RESPONDENT,

v.

### MYRNA LINETT DUARTE SAS,

Petitioner.

### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

\_\_\_\_

SMITH GOODFRIEND, P.S.

By: Valerie Villacin WSBA No. 34515 Nicholas Bartels WSBA No. 62844

1619 8<sup>th</sup> Avenue North Seattle, WA 98109 (206) 624-0974

Attorneys for Respondent

### **

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

### IV. ARGUMENT WHY THE COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW

Duarte seeks review of Division One's unpublished opinion based on the doctrine of owelty—a doctrine neither

party addressed in their merits briefs in the lower appellate court. As owelty was never fully briefed in the Court of Appeals, thus not directly addressed in Division One's decision, review is not warranted based on Duarte's assertion that a "published opinion on this topic would assist future parties." (Pet. 21) Nor is review warranted based on Division One's correct observation that statutory partition of a single-family residence "appears possible only by sale." (Op. 15)

That Duarte is concerned that the home may be ordered sold on remand is not an issue of "significant public interest" as it is entirely a private concern. Finally, Division One properly concluded that the trial court's error in divesting Navas of his interest in the house under the doctrine of ouster was not harmless because the de minimis amount he was awarded as damages for ouster was not "the equivalent of an owelty amount sufficient to compensate him." (Op. 14)

This Court should deny review.

A. Division One's unpublished opinion correctly observing that "statutory partition" of a single-family residence "appears possible only by sale" is consistent with the partition statute and does not conflict with any appellate decisions.

Review of Division One's unpublished opinion does not warrant review, as it does not conflict with any decisions from this Court or the Court of Appeals. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2). Duarte does not dispute that despite Navas filing his action under the partition statute, the trial court improperly divested him of his interest in the former family home under the unpled theory of ouster, which is a separate cause of action. (Op. 11) Division One thus properly remanded for the trial court to "take the necessary steps to partition the property and the ownership interests thereto," consistent with the partition statute. (Op. 15)

Duarte seeks reviews of Division One's decision based solely on its wholly correct observation that "[a]s a single-family residence in a single-family zone, statutory partition appears possible only by sale." (Op. 15) As Division One properly held, a trial court's "statutory obligation" under RCW 7.52.010 is "to determine the parties' respective rights to the property and whether participation would be effectuated in kind or by sale." (Op. 10) "The partition statute gives tenants in common the right to partition their property, *either* in kind *or* by sale." *Friend v. Friend*, 92 Wn. App. 799, 803, 964 P.2d 1219 (1998) (emphasis in original), *rev. denied*, 137 Wn.2d 1030 (1999). As partition in kind requires the property be "physically divided" (Op. 7, n.3), Division One properly recognized that "statutory partition" of a single-family residence "appears possible only by sale." (Op. 15)

Review is not warranted based on a single challenged sentence in an unpublished opinion. As Duarte conceded in her motion for reconsideration, this statement is dicta. (Motion for Recon. 3) Dicta is not binding authority. It is an "observation or remark made by a judge in pronouncing

an opinion upon a cause, concerning some rule, principle, or application of law, or the solution of a question suggested by the case at bar, but not necessarily involved in the case or essential to its determination . . . " Sw. Suburban Sewer Dist. v. Fish, 17 Wn. App. 2d 833, 841, ¶18, n.3, 488 P.3d 839 (2021) (internal quotations and quoted source omitted).

Further, Division One's decision noting that partition in kind is not appropriate for a single-family residence does not conflict with the "doctrine of owelty partition authorized by the partition statute itself." (Pet. 19) In its decision, Division One recognized that the partition statute authorizes a court to "award monetary equalizing compensation—known as an owelty—when a 'partition cannot be made equal between the parties according to their respective rights, without prejudice to the rights and interests of some of them." (Op. 8, citing RCW 7.52.440; *Hartley v. Liberty Park Assocs.*, 54 Wn. App. 434, 438, 774

P.2d 40, rev. denied, 113 Wn.2d 1013 (1989)). Owelty, however, is an "equitable alternative to partition." Marriage of Wintermute, 70 Wn. App. 741, 745, 855 P.2d 1186 (1993) (emphasis added), rev. denied, 123 Wn.2d 1009 (1994) (Pet. 19). When "a particular piece of real property cannot be fairly apportioned, an equalizing monetary award can be made in lieu of partition." Wintermute, 70 Wn. App. at 745 (emphasis added).

While Division One references owelty under RCW 7.52.440 (Op. 8), it did not address whether owelty was appropriate here as an "equitable alternative to partition" because neither party raised this issue in the merits briefs, nor had it been addressed in the trial court. The first time owelty was raised was *after* oral argument in a statement of additional authorities. (*See* Pet. 14)

As Division One recognized, the trial court had completely sidestepped any consideration of the partition statute by resolving Navas' claimed interest in the property based on the unpled theory of ouster. (*See* Op. 11) Because Navas had brought this action as one for partition of the property "either in kind or by sale" (CP 205), Division One properly instructed that resolution of his claim on remand must begin with the partition statue, which provides for the sale of property if it appears that partition in kind "cannot be made without great prejudice to the owners." RCW 7.52.010 (*See* Op. 10) This instruction is entirely consistent with the partition statute and does not conflict with any decision from this Court or the Court of Appeals to warrant review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2).

## B. Division One's unpublished opinion does not raise an issue of substantial public interest warranting review by this Court.

Review of Division One's unpublished decision remanding for the trial court to apply the partition statute to resolve the parties' respective rights in the former family home does not raise an issue of substantial public interest warranting review under RAP 13.4(b)(4). It is not "terrible"

public policy" to require cotenants to litigate their claims in a manner consistent with the partition statute on which the action was commenced. (Pet. 27)

By recognizing that "statutory partition" of a single-family residence "appears possible only by sale" (Op. 15), Division One did not, as Duarte seems to imply, limit the trial court's authority on remand to only partitioning the property "via a courthouse auction." (Pet. 19) Division One's decision expressly left open the possibility that there may be other possible options on remand, but did not speak expressly to those options because "the issue was not briefed herein." (Op. 14–15)

Partition of a single-family residence by sale in order to divide co-tenants' interests therein is not "terrible public policy," as it is expressly provided for by the partition statute, which as Division One recognized has been "largely unchanged, since it was enacted by the territorial legislature in 1869." (Op. 7)<sup>2</sup> Requiring partition by sale will not create a "windfall to the other cotenants" if one cotenant has contributed more to the property. (Pet. 28) As this Court has recognized, a cotenant may be "given some consideration on a partition sale for the enhanced valuation resulting from improvements" made by the cotenant. *Leinweber v. Leinweber*, 63 Wn.2d 54, 57–58, 385 P.2d 556 (1963).

Review of Division One's decision is not warranted based on Duarte's assertion that it may result in her "potentially los[ing] the family home," which she claims she "saved." (Pet. 27) This is a wholly private interest; whether the property in dispute here is partitioned by sale on remand is not an issue of public interest warranting review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> In 2023, the legislature enacted the Uniform Partition of Heirs Property Act, which governs partition of real property determined as "heirs property" in actions filed after July 23, 2023. RCW 7.54.120. Partition of the property here will be still be governed under RCW 7.52.

### C. Division One properly concluded that the trial court's decision was not harmless error.

Review of Division One's unpublished opinion holding that the trial court's erroneous decision divesting Navas of his interest in the former family home was not harmless is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2) because it is wholly consistent with "appellate jurisprudence, especially on harmless error." (Pet. 22) While a court may affirm a trial court's decision on alternative grounds not relied on by the trial court, it must be on "grounds established by the pleadings and supported by the record." *Marriage of Rideout*, 150 Wn.2d 337, 358, 77 P.2d 1174 (2003).

Division One properly recognized that it "cannot affirm a trial court on a ground neither established by the pleadings nor supported by the record." (Op. 13, citing *Pub*. *Util. Dist. No. 2 of Pac. County v. Comcast of Wash. IV, Inc.*, 8 Wn. App. 2d 418, 455, ¶71, n.41, 438 P.3d 1212, *rev. denied*, 193 Wn.2d 1031 (2019)) Neither party argued

owelty in the trial court, in their briefing in the Court of Appeals, or at oral argument. This new theory was only raised by Duarte *after* oral argument in a Statement of Additional Authority. (See Pet. 14)

Further, as Duarte recognizes, an appellate court may only affirm on an alternative ground if "the record supports the trial court's outcome." (Pet. 22) Division One properly held that it could not affirm the trial court's decision on the existing record since it "would need the record to inform us as to many questions that were never answered" (Op. 14) to determine "whether the record supports the legal conclusion that Duarte possessed a 100 percent interest in the property pursuant to the laws applicable to a partition action." (Op. 13)

Compensation under RCW 7.52.440 as owelty requires the trial court to first determine the parties' "respective rights" in the property, which the trial court never did. Instead, under the erroneous theory of ouster,

the trial court determined that Navas had no interest in the property and awarded him little more than \$25,000 as "a damage award to compensate him for a past wrong." (Op. 14)

Division One properly declined to affirm the trial court's decision on the alternative theory of owelty because an award of \$25,000 to compensate Navas for his interest in the property is not supported by the record. As Division One held, "[t]his is no way the equivalent of an owelty amount sufficient to compensate him for the loss of his present and future ownership interest in the property at issue." (Op. 14) In fact, the existing record shows that Navas was entitled to at least \$218,032, which was the amount the referee found Duarte should pay Navas for his "one-half of the equity in the home," less half the payments Duarte paid towards the home after Navas moved out. (CP 138)

The trial court's decision here was not harmless. Had the trial court properly determined the parties' respective rights in the property as required by the partition statute in establishing the amount owed to Navas, "a different outcome was reasonably probable." *Dependency of A.C.*, 1 Wn.3d 186, 195, ¶25, 525 P.3d 177 (2023). "[I]f a different outcome was reasonably probable without the error, then the error had a material effect and the judgment should be reversed." *Dependency of A.C.*, 1 Wn.3d at 195, ¶25.

Division One's decision declining to affirm the trial court's decision on the alternative ground of owelty is wholly consistent with "appellate jurisprudence" because the trial court's award of \$25,000 to Navas as owelty is not supported by the record and a different outcome was reasonably probable had the trial court not ignored its statutory obligation to determine the parties' respective rights in the property. This Court should deny review.

#### V. CONCLUSION

For these reasons, the Court should deny review and allow the mandate to issue so that the parties may have their interests in the property established by the trial court.

I certify that this brief is in 14-point Georgia font and contains 3,606 words, in compliance with the Rules of Appellate Procedure. RAP 18.17(b).